

SCHOOL FOR INTERNATIONAL TRAINING (SIT)

HUMAN SUBJECTS RESEARCH POLICY

June 22, 2016

Institution: World Learning Inc. IRB organization number: IORG0004408 IRB registration number: IRB00005219 Expires: 9 December 2017

Table of Contents

Preface	3
Definitions	3
Types of Human Subjects Research: Exempt, Expedited, Full Review	4
Exempt	5
Expedited	5
Full Review	6
Children and Human Subjects Research	7
Standards for Children	7
The Importance of Informed Consent	8
Protocol for Coursework involving Human Subjects	9
Roles and Responsibilities	10
Faculty/Supervisor/Academic/Program Director (AD/PD)	10
Researcher	11
SIT Study Abroad Local Review Boards (LRBs)	12
SIT Institutional Review Board (IRB)	12
PARTICIPANT INFORMED CONSENT TEMPLATE	14
MINOR ASSENT FORM	17
PARENTAL PERMISSION FORM FOR CHILD'S RESEARCH PARTICIPATION	19

Human Subjects Research Policy

Preface

SIT's Institutional Review Board (IRB) exists to uphold the ethical principles of respect for persons, beneficence and justice for all human subjects of research. The IRB specifically considers the aspects of informed consent, risks and benefits, and the selection of subjects.¹

In developing the Human Subjects Research Policy, SIT has considered guidelines of various federal agencies, the ethical codes of principal scholarly associations (e.g. the American Association of University Professors) and other relevant sources of information. The intent of these policies and procedures is to ensure that the rights and safety of human subjects in research are protected. Faculty, Academic Directors (ADs), Program Directors (PDs), students, and staff are expected to fulfill their obligation to protect the rights of people involved in their research.

Definitions

- Research: Systematic investigation, including research development, testing and evaluation, designed to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge.
- Researcher: Human Subject Research policies apply to all research at the School for International Training conducted by faculty, academic and program directors, students, and World Learning staff.
- Human Subjects Review (HSR): The process by which research proposals are reviewed so as to protect participants from harm.
- Institutional Review Board (IRB): SIT's institution-wide board charged with reviewing research proposals and determining whether they comply with human subjects guidelines established by federal law .
- Local Review Board (LRB): The SIT Study Abroad program-level board charged with establishing appropriate standards and reviewing research proposals to insure Human Subjects Review Policy compliance, with particular attention to in-country ethical norms. The LRB operates under the auspices of the IRB committee and may refer HSR applications to the IRB for further review.

Researchers are responsible for ensuring research is conducted in strict observance of ethical standards and the general norms of the scientific community in the United States. If research is conducted outside the United States, these standards still apply but there may be other norms and ethical standards that also must be taken into consideration. All research carries risk, but we should strive to ensure that risk is minimal so "that the probability and magnitude of harm or

¹ SIT's Institutional Review Board (IRB) is charged with overseeing the use of human subjects in research to partially fulfill the institution's ethical responsibilities within its stated mission and to, when indicated, satisfy requirements of the Code Of Federal Regulations, Title 45, Part 46, Protection of Human Subjects, Public Welfare, Department Of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, Office for Protection from Research Risks

discomfort anticipated in the research are not greater in and of themselves than those ordinarily encountered in daily life" (45 C.F.R. § 46.102(i)).

Researchers are responsible for maintaining contact with the Institutional Review Board, and/or the LRB for SIT Study Abroad research, in the event of changes to approved research protocols, and for ensuring researcher's personal safety and the safety of research participants during the research process. Student researchers and research assistants are also responsible for maintaining contact with research supervisors throughout the research process.

IRB/LRB Proposal Submission Process

All proposals must be submitted to the IRB administrator at <u>irb@sit.edu</u> for review and approval *before research can begin* or, in the case of SIT Study Abroad, to the LRB for review and approval before research can begin. The IRB/LRB reserves the right to disapprove an application.

The IRB will notify the researcher of comments and recommendations via email <u>within two-</u> <u>three business days of receiving exempt proposals and two weeks</u> of receiving <u>expedited proposals</u>.

Proposals requiring full review must be submitted to the IRB administrator at <u>irb@sit.edu</u> at least ONE WEEK in advance of the next IRB committee meeting. The IRB committee's decision with regard to a full review proposal will be provided via email <u>within one week</u> of the IRB committee meeting at which a <u>full review proposal</u> is reviewed. The IRB committee meeting schedule will be published at the start of each academic term.

The timing of **SIT Study Abroad proposals submitted to the Local Review Board (LRB)** will vary by program, but a one week proposal review period, at minimum, is recommended to allow thorough review of all proposals submitted to the LRB.

Please see the Roles and Responsibilities section of this document for additional details regarding proposal submission protocols for researchers.

Questions pertaining to a proposal submitted to the IRB committee should be directed to <u>irb@sit.edu</u>.

Types of Human Subjects Research: Exempt, Expedited, Full Review

Researchers may NOT engage in research that involves:

- Procedures that might physically harm them or their research participants
- Activities that may be illegal

The Department of Health and Human Services of the US government and the School for International Training (SIT) recognize three review categories for research involving human subjects: exempt, expedited and full.

Exempt

Exempt research is any research that **does not involve** the participation of human subjects **or** presents no more than minimal risk to human subjects **and** falls into one of the categories below:

- The collection or study of existing data, documents, or records if these sources are publicly available (historical texts, files downloadable online) or if the information is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects;
- Research that does not aim to contribute to generalizable knowledge;
- Regular and special education instructional strategies, on the effectiveness of, or the comparison among, instructional techniques, curricula, or classroom management methods in an established or commonly accepted educational setting (e.g. evaluating the use of accepted or revised standardized tests, comparing a lesson or curriculum);
- Cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude or achievement educational tests, if information taken from these sources is recorded in such a manner that subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects and any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research would NOT place the subjects at any risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, or reputation;
- Interviews, surveys or focus groups with elected or appointed public officials or candidates for public office;
- Surveys, interviews or observation of public behavior for which anonymity of the subjects is inherent. The information is recorded in such a manner that human subjects **cannot** be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects (e.g. a person's voice). And, the subjects' responses would not, were they disclosed outside the research, place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, or reputation. For instance, anonymous, identifier-disassociated surveys of teachers about a method or an outcome, interviews with nonprofit staff about a program, or a focus group about an experience;
- Research focusing on consumer consumption of food and the taste and quality of food if wholesome foods without additives are consumed.

Exempt proposals and supporting documentation for research conducted by faculty, SIT Graduate Institute students and World Learning staff must be submitted to the SIT Office of Research Ethics (irb@sit.edu), where the application will be reviewed by the IRB Administrator for accuracy and completion. Exempt applications for research conducted by SIT Study Abroad students are retained at the program site; those submitted by the SIT Graduate Institute will be kept at the SIT Office of Research Ethics.

Expedited

Research in the expedited category presents no more than minimal risk to participants and may include projects from the following categories:

• Research that involves "minimal risk," unless it involves children as participants. "Minimal risk" means that the risks of harm anticipated in the proposed research are not greater than those ordinarily encountered in daily life or during the performance of routine physical or psychological examinations or tests;

- Collection of data from voice, video, digital, or image recordings made for research purposes;
- Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior);
- The use of surveys, interviews, oral histories, focus groups, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies in which subjects are or can be identified directly or indirectly;
- Minor changes in previously approved research design during the period (of one year or less) for which approval is authorized.

Expedited review procedures may not be used where:

- Identification of the subjects and/or their responses would reasonably place them at risk of criminal or civil liability;
- Identification could be damaging to the subject's financial standing, employability, insurability or reputation;
- Identification could be stigmatizing, unless reasonable and appropriate protections will be implemented so that risks related to invasion of privacy and breach of confidentiality are no greater than minimal.

Full Review

The following research will require full IRB committee review, or review by the LRB for SIT Study Abroad, to assess potential benefits and risks:

- All research involving children that does not fall into the exempt category (educational context);
- Research with vulnerable and/or at risk populations (e.g. prisoners, refugees);
- Research that deprives participants of necessary or accustomed resources;
- Research that may cause subjects mental stress;
- The use of participants not able to give free and informed consent, including, but not limited to children;
- Research involving subjects who are available because of their need for the investigator's professional services (students or employees of the researcher);
- Explicit, or implicit, deception of participants about any aspect of the research significant to them.

Adequate safeguards for vulnerable subjects and explanations concerning the need for deception must be in place for approval. Informed consent and research with children are described in more detail in the next section.

Sensitive research topics include but are not limited to:

- Questions relating to sexual attitudes, preferences, or practices;
- Questions concerning the use of alcohol, drugs, or other addictive products;
- Research on activities that may be illegal, or likely to offend prevailing standards of ethical practice for a given country context;

- Information that, if released, could reasonably be damaging to an individual's financial standing, employability, or reputation within the community;
- Information that would normally be recorded in a subject's medical record, and the disclosure of which could reasonably lead to social stigmatization or discrimination;
- Information pertaining to an individual's psychological well-being or mental health;
- Information in other categories not listed may also be considered sensitive because of specific cultural or other factors, and protection can be granted in such cases upon appropriate justification and explanation.

Interface between SIT IRB & SIT Study Abroad LRB

Please note:

- I. A proposal denied by the SIT Study Abroad LRB may be submitted by the Academic Director or Program Director to SIT's Institutional Review Board for review, but it is unlikely SIT's IRB would approve a proposal that was denied by the Local Review Board. SIT upholds the principle that the LRB is the most qualified body to ensure observance of local norms of ethics and value systems for SIT Study Abroad field study proposals;
- 2. The SIT IRB reserves the right to turn down a research proposal even if the proposal was approved by the LRB if the IRB believes that that the proposal contradicts any of the U.S federal regulations and policies which regulate research on human subjects.

Children and Human Subjects Research

The US standard specifies that subjects under the age of 18 may participate in research only with the signature of their parent or legal guardian, in addition to their own signature. This also applies to the completion of anonymous questionnaires since persons under 18 are not permitted legally to make the informed choice to participate.

Standards for Children

- 1. When reasonable under the circumstances, researchers shall obtain assent from children in addition to obtaining permission from the child's parent or guardian. When obtaining permission from the legal guardian, signed documents and the verbal explanation shall both be in a language fully understood by the guardian. This may require document translation.
- 2. Final responsibility rests with the IRB, or the LRB in the case of SIT Study Abroad student research, which shall determine that adequate provisions are made for soliciting the assent of the children or, if the IRB determines that the children are not capable of providing assent based on age, maturity, psychological state or other factors, then the IRB will assure that the parents or other responsible party have done so in lieu of the children in a satisfactory manner.
- 3. Children should have the information about participation in the research explained to them in language they can understand (by their parent), and, if possible, they should also sign their consent.
- 4. Age in and of itself does not determine competency and even young children have the right to informed consent if they are capable of comprehending what is expected.
- 5. In cases where member of a team, class or organized group are being recruited for a study and participation could affect the performance of the team, class or group as a whole, the informed consent of the coach, instructor or group leader is required.

6. For more information on the US standard, please see: U. S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Human Research Protections: <u>http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/guidance/faq/children-research/</u>

The following definitions hold:

- "Children" are persons who have not attained the legal age for consent to treatments or procedures involved in the research in the state/country where the study will be conducted. As the legal age for consent to participate in research in the US is, generally, 18, and though this age may differ in the many sites in which SIT is located, for the purposes of this Human Subjects Review policy and consent to participate in SIT research, children are defined as under 18 years of age. This age limit may be higher in local jurisdictions; local law should be followed in these cases.
- **"Assent"** means a child's affirmative agreement to participate in the research following an age-appropriate explanation of the research project. Mere failure to object shall not be construed as assent.
- **"Permission"** means the agreement of the parent(s) or guardian to the participation of their child in the research following an appropriate explanation of the research project in a language fully understood by the parent.

The Importance of Informed Consent

When conducting research with human subjects, the researcher should obtain, in a culturally appropriate manner, the informed consent of all human subjects who participate in the study.

Obtaining consent includes the following:

- The researcher shall explain to subjects (prior to their participation) the objectives of the study, the procedures to be followed, and potential risks and benefits.
- The researcher shall not use individuals as subjects unless they, or those legally responsible for their well-being, consent to participation freely and with understanding of the consequences.
- Researchers shall respect the privacy of participants. They shall protect confidential information and advise participants as to how their confidentiality will be protected.
- Subjects shall not be induced to participate by means or in circumstances that might affect their ability to decide freely.
- It shall be made clear to participants that they are free to withdraw from active participation in the research at any time, or may refuse to respond to any part of the research. Participants who desire to withdraw shall be allowed to do so promptly and without prejudice to their interests.
- The Participant Informed Consent Form must be written in a language and a style that the participant can read and understand.
- Verbal consent: In certain contexts, verbal consent may be more culturally appropriate than written consent. In such instances, the contents of the written Participant Informed Consent Form must be addressed in full with the research participant in order for the verbal consent to be considered informed consent.

The following are required:

Consent: "I have read the above and I understand its contents and I agree to participate in the study. I acknowledge that I am 18 years of age or older."

Consent to be recorded (if relevant): "I give my consent to be recorded."

Consent to have recordings played in public (if relevant): "I give my consent to be recorded and to allow that the recording be used in conference (classroom) presentation."

These statements must be following by a place for the subject to sign his/her name and to put the day's date.

Informed consent signature via email:

Informed consent generally indicated by signature is not always obtainable via email. Instead, an e-mail survey must include the following statements to which a subject must respond in an affirmative manner.

Please type a response after the statement below. A "YES" response indicates that you understand the statement and are at least 18 years of age and you agree to participate. If you respond "NO," your response to this study will not be used.

I understand the potential risks associated with participation in this study. I also realize that while the researcher will keep responses confidential, e-mail surveys are not secure. Furthermore, I am at least 18 years of age or older. YES/NO.

If the subject responds "NO" to this statement, any data received from the subject may not be included in the study.

In some cases, a participant may be unable to provide written consent:

In this case, the researcher shall still read the information in the Participant Informed Consent Form and explain the objectives of the study and its impact on the participant, and shall wait for the participant's oral consent to take part in the study.

Two cases when an Informed Consent is not necessary:

- First, when the research solely involves observation of a person's public behavior in locations where that person might reasonably expect that his/her behavior could be observed by another person.
- Second, when the subjects are only filling out an anonymous public questionnaire or survey, and they can choose not to participate by simply not returning the questionnaire.

Protocol for Coursework involving Human Subjects

All approved SIT courses, but for those courses listed below, receive blanket exempt approval status to engage human subjects for the purposes of completing a course assignment. However, given the importance of protecting human subjects, we as an institution take seriously the need to take care in designing course assignments that engage human subjects.

We propose syllabi for courses involving human subjects include the following text:

This institution has pledged to uphold the ethical principles of respect for persons, beneficence and justice in all human subjects research. It is the responsibility of the Institutional Review Board to protect human subjects by reviewing all research proposals. The IRB designates as exempt research using human subjects conducted in order to fulfill the requirements of a class. Exempt status is predicated on the assumption that:

- The assignment topic is not sensitive (see definition in the Full Review section of this document);
- Human subject participants in the assignment are not vulnerable and the information gathered is not sensitive and/or is properly protected from public access;
- Consent for participation in the course assignment is received before participation begins;
- If the protocol for engaging human subjects changes after the research plan is approved by the instructor of record, then the student(s) must notify the instructor and receive approval to proceed with the new protocol.

It is the responsibility of the instructor of record to ensure that human subjects protection protocols are in place when students engage with people to gather information and complete assignments.

Human subjects protections are especially of concern should students engage people who are not enrolled in the course, such as members of the student body at large, staff, and community members.

The IRB committee is available to answer questions about human subjects protocols for course assignments (and to visit classes to discuss human subjects policies and the role of the IRB committee with students), but it is the responsibility of the instructor of record to ensure that human subjects protection protocols are in place when students engage with people to gather information and complete assignments.

Courses <u>not</u> covered by the blanket exemption include the SIT Graduate Institute's Reflective Practice Course and Independent Study course, as well as the Independent Study Project, Field Study Project, and Internship courses offered by SIT Study Abroad.

Roles and Responsibilities

Faculty/Supervisor/Academic/Program Director (AD/PD)

- Faculty research projects involving human subjects must be submitted to the IRB.
- It is the responsibility of the Faculty/Supervisor/AD/PD to review the SIT IRB policies and procedures for the protection of human subjects, to share this information with students (e.g., in a course syllabus and/or in conversation with advisees) and to counsel the student on human subjects guidelines for research design.
- It is the responsibility of Faculty/Supervisor/AD/PD to make an initial review of the proposal and determine if the proposal is: a) exempt from IRB review, b) deserves

expedited IRB review, c) requires a full IRB review, or d) there is uncertainty about the proposal's status. However, all proposals must be submitted to the IRB for review.

- The Faculty/Supervisor/AD/PD will sign the student's human subjects application with the assigned recommendation and the student will submit the documentation:
 - SIT Graduate Institute students submit proposals directly to the IRB (<u>irb@sit.edu</u>).
 - Study Abroad students submit to the Local Review Board (LRB).
 - Any Study Abroad projects needing review by the SIT IRB in Vermont will be submitted by the AD/PD to <u>irb@sit.edu</u>.
 - For Study Abroad, the academic/program director scans and emails each student's LRB/IRB Action Form, Ethics Review form, and Statement of Ethics form to their program associate in Vermont and keeps a copy at the program site so that an institutional record is maintained every semester. Each student's Application for Human Subjects Review, together with the Action Form, must be kept on file at each local SIT program office.

Researcher

- The researcher is ultimately responsible for conducting research in compliance with IRB guidelines.
- The researcher is responsible for applying to the IRB for exempt, expedited or full review status for proposed research and for completing all required documentation.
- The Study Abroad student researcher is also responsible for checking with their home institution if a separate Institutional Review Board application process is required.
- All Study Abroad Independent Study Project (ISP)/Field Study Project (FSP) proposals must be submitted to the Local Review Board for review and approved before research may begin. When necessary, the proposal may be submitted by the AD/PD for full review by SIT's IRB in Vermont.
- All SIT Graduate Institute student research proposals must be approved by the IRB before research can begin.
- For greater efficiency, the naming protocol for submissions to the IRB (irb@sit.edu) is as follows:
 - Last name_exempt_year.docx or pdf
 - Last name_expedited_year.docx
 - Last name_full_year.docx

Proposal submission process:

- All proposals must be submitted to the IRB Administrator at <u>irb@sit.edu</u> for review and approval *before research can begin* or, in the case of SIT Study Abroad, to the LRB for review and approval before research can begin. The IRB/LRB reserves the right to disapprove an application.
- The IRB will notify the researcher of comments and recommendations via email within two-three business days of receiving exempt proposals and two weeks of receiving expedited proposals.
- Proposals requiring full review must be submitted to the IRB administrator at <u>irb@sit.edu</u> at least ONE WEEK in advance of the next IRB committee meeting. The IRB committee's decision with regard to a full review proposal will be provided via email <u>within one week</u> of the IRB committee

meeting at which a <u>full review proposal</u> is reviewed. The IRB committee meeting schedule will be published at the start of each academic term.

- The timing of SIT Study Abroad proposals submitted to the LRB will vary by program, but a one week proposal review period, at minimum, is recommended to allow thorough review of all proposals submitted to the LRB.
- Questions pertaining to a proposal submitted to the IRB committee should be directed to <u>irb@sit.edu</u>.

SIT Study Abroad Local Review Boards (LRBs)

The Local Review Board consists of the program academic/program director and, additionally, at least two and up to four local faculty or professionals with expertise in the program theme and who do not work for SIT full-time. No other SIT staff should participate in the LRB. This measure provides for more objectivity/for a wider range of input. LRB members will not participate in the approval of projects in which they have a conflicting interest.

- The LRB reviews proposals within the context of the IRB guidelines and within the ethical and value systems of the local community as well as those set forth by World Learning.
- The LRB must be satisfied that any research risks are mitigated through proper protocols and any research that exposes human subjects to the risk of unreasonable harm shall not be conducted.
- The LRB receives signed, human subjects research applications from the Academic/Program Director and convenes to review the applications.
- The LRB approves or disapproves each project. The LRB can stipulate conditions for the conduct of any research involving human subjects and require certain changes in the research plan.
- If any cases are referred for Full Review by IRB committee in Vermont, the AD/PD will submit the proposal to the IRB Committee on behalf of the LRB via <u>irb@sit.edu</u>.
- All ISP/FSP projects must be approved by the LRB before the projects may begin.

SIT Institutional Review Board (IRB)

The SIT IRB shall serve as a consultant and resource to all faculty, academic directors and program directors in interpretation of the procedures and policies of the human subjects review process. IRB members will not participate in the approval of projects in which they have a conflicting interest.

- Extremely sensitive topics or cases whereby a decision cannot be reached at the level of the LRB may be submitted for full review by the SIT IRB.
- The SIT IRB approves or disapproves each project submitted to it by the Faculty Advisor or academic/program director, following initial review by the LRB. The IRB can also stipulate conditions for the conduct of any research involving human subjects and require certain changes in the research plan. Changes must be indicated (highlighted) when resubmitted to IRB.
- The SIT IRB will convene and review proposals requiring a full review once a month.. Proposals for full review must be received by the IRB administrator (<u>irb@sit.edu</u>) at least ONE WEEK prior to the next IRB committee meeting.
- The SIT IRB will review proposals requiring an expedited review within a timeframe of two weeks for receipt of referral.

• The IRB committee will publish its meeting schedule at the start of each academic term.

Interpreters and Translators

Human subjects research at SIT frequently involves engaging interpreters and translators in the research process. As such, prior to engaging interpreters/translators in the research project, the researcher must train interpreters/translators in the fundamentals of research ethics and agree to abide by the approved research protocol. The role and expectations for interpreters and translators must also be a component of research training for researchers to ensure appropriate engagement of interpreters and translators throughout the research process. Furthermore, researchers are expected to maintain ethical engagement of interpreters/translators.

Animals, the Environment, and Research

Research involving animals is not covered by the HSR but should follow the general lines of doing no harm to the student or the animal. Similar concerns will be raised in terms of protecting the environment. In other words, no matter what the subject matter, even if research does not involve direct analysis of human subjects, this does not make it exempt from ethical considerations.

For more information about human subjects research from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, please see:

http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/45cfr46.html

Human Subjects Regulations and Policy, decision-making charts: <u>http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/decision-trees</u>

Informed Consent Checklist, developed by U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: <u>http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/guidance/checklists/index.html</u>

Research with Children: <u>http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/guidance/special-protections-for-children/index.html</u>



PARTICIPANT INFORMED CONSENT TEMPLATE

Title of the Study: Researcher Name:

My name is ... I am a student with the SIT ... program.

I would like to invite you to participate in a study I am conducting (for partial fulfillment of my MA in ... or as part of the SIT Study Abroad program in ...). Your participation is voluntary. Please read the information below, and ask questions about anything you do not understand, before deciding whether to participate. If you decide to participate, you will be asked to sign this form and you will be given a copy of this form.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

State what the study is designed to assess or establish. Technical or complicated language should be avoided. Participants should be able to easily understand the purpose of the study and that it is research.

The purpose of this study is to...

STUDY PROCEDURES

Describe what you will ask the respondent to do, how much time it will take and where the interview etc. will take place. If applicable, clearly state whether participants will be photographed and/or audio/video-recorded. Clarify if the participant can still participate in this research study if they do not wish to be audio/video-recorded or photographed.

Your participation will consist of ... and will require approximately ... of your time.

POTENTIAL RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

Describe any reasonable foreseeable risks, discomforts, inconveniences, including physiological risks/discomforts, and how these will be minimized. If there are no anticipated risks, state so.

There are no foreseeable risks to participating in this study and no penalties should you choose not to participate; participation is voluntary. During the interview (focus group) you have the right not to answer any questions or to discontinue participation at any time.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS TO PARTICIPANTS AND/OR TO SOCIETY

State any anticipated benefits to the participant or to society. If there are no anticipated benefits to the participant, state so.

PAYMENT/COMPENSATION FOR PARTICIPATION

State whether the participant will receive payment/compensation or any other form of compensation and describe. If no compensation is involved, remove the section.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Describe how you will maintain the confidentiality or anonymity of your respondents during data collection, after the study is finished and in the presentation or publication of your research. Specifically, who will have access to these data? How will personal information, research data, and related records will be stored to prevent access by unauthorized people (e.g. will data be kept in a locked cabinet, or if in a computer, is data password protected?). Explain when audio/video-recordings or notes will be erased or discarded. If data will be anonymized (e.g. by associating codes with names) explain how. When the results are presented or published, how will you protect the research subject's identity?

Any identifiable information obtained in connection with this study will remain confidential.... I will (explain in detail how you will protect these data)

When the results of the research are published or discussed in conferences, no identifiable information will be used.

PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL

Your participation is voluntary. Your refusal to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You may withdraw your consent at any time and discontinue participation without penalty. You are not waiving any legal claims, rights or remedies because of your participation in this research study.

"I have read the above and I understand its contents and I agree to participate in the study. I acknowledge that I am 18 years of age or older."

Participant's signature ______Date_____

Researcher's signature _____ Date_____

[This section should include other explicit consents for optional elements of the research procedures, such as audiotaping, videotaping, storing photographs for future use, or using the subjects' actual name in research publications.]

Initial one of the following to indicate your choice:

____ (initial) I agree to...

_____ (initial) I do not agree to…

Examples:

Consent to Quote from Interview

I may wish to quote from the interview with your child either in the presentations or articles resulting from this work. [If a pseudonym will be used, include this statement: A pseudonym (fake name) will be used in order to protect your child's identity.]

Initial one of the following to indicate your choice:

____ (initial) I agree to...

_____ (initial) I do not agree to…

Consent to Audio-Record Interview

Initial one of the following to indicate your choice:

_____ (initial) I agree to...

_____ (initial) I do not agree to…

Consent to have recordings played in public (if relevant): "I give my consent to be recorded and to allow that the recording be used in conference (classroom) presentation."

Initial one of the following to indicate your choice:

____ (initial) I agree to...

(initial) I do not agree to...

RESEARCHER'S CONTACT INFORMATION

If you have any questions or want to get more information about this study, please contact me at (email) or my advisor at (email)

RIGHTS OF RESEARCH PARTICIPANT – IRB CONTACT INFORMATION

In an endeavor to uphold the ethical standards of all SIT proposals, this study has been reviewed and approved by an SIT Study Abroad Local Review Board or SIT Institutional Review Board. If you have questions, concerns, or complaints about your rights as a research participant or the research in general and are unable to contact the researcher please contact the Institutional Review Board at:

School for International Training Institutional Review Board I Kipling Road, PO Box 676 Brattleboro, VT 05302-0676 USA irb@sit.edu 802-258-3132

Template for Minor Assent age 14-17 [delete text in red and insert other information where appropriate]

MINOR ASSENT FORM

Title of the Study: Researcher:

I am doing a study about ...

Why have you been asked to be part of this study?

I would like you to participate in a research study about The purpose of the study is ...

What will you be asked to do?

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to do the following things: [explain what participants will be asked to do]. Participation should take about [insert expected amount of time].

Are there any potential risks or discomforts for you?

Participation in this study carries no reasonable foreseeable (or expected) risks. There may be unknown risks.

Your parents know about the study and have agreed that you can participate if you want to.

Are there benefits to being in this study?

The study could benefit you in the following ways: Or The study will not benefit you directly etc.

Confidentiality

This study is anonymous. We will not be collecting or retaining any information about your identity. or

The records of this study will be kept strictly confidential. Research records will be kept in a locked file, and all electronic information will be coded and secured using a password protected file. [If audio or video tape recordings are made, explain specifically who will have access to them, if they will be used for educational purposes, and when they will be erased/destroyed and indicate how they will be destroyed or erased.] We will not include any information in any report we may publish that would make it possible to identify you.

Right to Refuse or Withdraw

The decision to participate in this study is entirely up to you. You may refuse to take part in the study *at any time* without affecting your relationship with the investigator of this study or Smith College. Your decision will not result in any loss or benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You have the right not to answer any single question, as well as to withdraw completely from the interview at any point during the process; additionally, you have the right to request that the interviewer not use any of your interview material.

Who will see the information collected about you?

When I am finished with this study, I will write a report about what I learned. This report will not include your name or that you were in the study. I will give you a fake name and I will not keep any of the materials you recorded.

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions about the study.

Advisor:

I understand what I will be asked to do in this study. I understand that I can stop participating at any time.

I want to take part in the study.

Signature of Minor

Date

Principal Investigator Signature

Date

Template for Parental Permission [delete text in red and insert other information where appropriate]

PARENTAL PERMISSION FORM FOR CHILD'S RESEARCH PARTICIPATION

Title of the Study:

Researcher:

Your child is being asked to take part in a research study. This form has important information about the reason for doing this study, what we will ask your child to do, and the way we would like to use information about your child if you choose to allow your child to be in the study.

Why are you doing this study?

Your child is being asked to participate in a research study about The purpose of the study is ...

What will my child be asked to do if my child is in this study?

Your child will be asked to [explain what participants will be asked to do]. [Explain if you will be asking any personal or sensitive questions.] Participation should take about [insert expected amount of time].

[If you will be tape recording subjects, include the following]

We would like to video record [or audio tape] your child as he/she performs [study task(s) that will be recorded], to make sure that we remember accurately all the information. The researchers will keep these tapes in [explain where you will keep them] and they will only be used by [explain who will have access to the tapes]. We will only video record [or audio tape] your child if you and your child give us permission.

[If subjects may participate without being taped, include "I agree ..." and "I do not agree..." options at the end of this form. If audio/video recording are not optional, then state "Audio/Video recording is required for participation in this study. If you or your child do not wish to be recorded, it is not possible for your child to be in this study."]

[NOTE: if the parent is also a participant in the study, include a section describing what research tasks the parent will be asked to do OR create a separate consent form addressing the parent as a participant]

What are the possible risks or discomforts to my child?

Explain any foreseeable risks to subjects here.

Examples:

To the best of our knowledge, the things your child would be doing in this study have no more risk of harm than the risks of everyday life.

Your child's participation in this study does not involve any physical or emotional risk to your child beyond that of everyday life.

OR

Your child's participation in this study may involve the following risks... [describe any reasonably foreseeable risks to psyche, reputation, employability, insurability, social status, criminal or civil liability that may occur as a result of participation]

Examples of risk explanations:

Your child may get tired during the tasks. Your child can rest/take a break at any time.
Your child may feel emotional or upset when answering some of the questions. Your child can tell the interviewer at any time if he/she wants to take a break or stop the interview.
Your child may be uncomfortable with some of the questions and topics we will ask about. If your child is uncomfortable, they are free to not answer or skip to the next question.

As with all research, there is a chance that confidentiality of the information we collect about your child could be breached – we will take steps to minimize this risk, as discussed in more detail below in this form.

What are the possible benefits for my child or others?

Your child is not likely to have any direct benefit from being in this research study. This study is designed to learn more about [insert purpose/topic of study]. The study results may be used to help other people in the future.

OR

Taking part in this research study may not benefit your child personally, but we may learn new things that will help others.

OR

The possible benefits to your child from this study include...

[Do NOT include information on payment/reimbursement in the description of benefits – that information belongs in a separate Financial Information section.]

How will you protect the information you collect about my child, and how will that information be shared?

Results of this study may be used in publications and presentations. [Explain measures to protect data confidentiality/personal privacy here. If disclosure of faces or voices is necessary to understanding the research and so identifying information may be used in reports/presentations, explain this and provide "I agree" "I do not agree" options at the end of the consent form.]

Financial Information

Participation in this study will involve no cost to you or your child. Your child will not be paid for participating in this study.

OR

[If subjects will be paid, explain the amount and terms of payment/reimbursement. If payments will be prorated if a subject withdraws from the study, state the terms]

What are my child's rights as a research participant?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your child may withdraw from this study at any time -you and your child will not be penalized in any way or lose any sort of benefits for deciding to stop participation. [Include this if research is being done in a school setting: If you and your child decide not to be in this study, this will not affect the relationship you and your child have with your child's school in any way. Your child's grades will not be affected if you choose not to let your child be in this study.]

If your child decides to withdraw from this study, the researchers will ask if the information already collected from your child can be used [or in the alternative, state that the information already collected will not be used.]

Who can I contact if I have questions or concerns about this research study?

If you or your child have any questions, you may contact the researcher at [add your contact information, including name, telephone number, and email address].

If you have any questions about your child's rights as a participant in this research, you can contact the following office at the School for International Training:

School for International Training Institutional Review Board I Kipling Road, PO Box 676 Brattleboro, VT 05302-0676 USA irb@sit.edu 802-258-3132

Parental Permission for Child's Participation in Research

I have read this form and the research study has been explained to me. I have been given the opportunity to ask questions and my questions have been answered. If I have additional questions, I have been told whom to contact. I give permission for my child to participate in the research study described above and will receive a copy of this Parental Permission form after I sign it.

Optional Study Elements

[This section should include other explicit consents for optional elements of the research procedures, such as audiotaping, videotaping, storing photographs for future use, or using the subjects' actual name in research publications.]

Initial one of the following to indicate your choice:

____ (initial) I agree to...

_____ (initial) I do not agree to…

Examples:

Consent to Quote from Interview

I may wish to quote from the interview with your child either in the presentations or articles resulting from this work. [If a pseudonym will be used, include this statement: A pseudonym (fake name) will be used in order to protect your child's identity.]

Initial one of the following to indicate your choice:

____ (initial) I agree to...

_____ (initial) I do not agree to…

Consent to Audio-Record Interview Initial one of the following to indicate your choice:

____ (initial) I agree to…

_____ (initial) I do not agree to…

Parent/Legal Guardian's Name (printed) and Signature

Name of Person Obtaining Parental Permission

For studies taking place in a school in the US, this paragraph generally should be included (if you are unsure whether to include this paragraph for your study, please contact the SIT IRB for guidance):

Parents, please be aware that under the Protection of Pupils Rights Act (20 U.S.C. Section 1232(c)(1)(A)), you have the right to review a copy of the questions asked of or materials that will be used with students. If you would like to do so, you should contact [Researcher] to obtain a copy of the questions or materials.

Date

Date